I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Petitioner is City First Mortgage Services, LLC, defendant-

appellant in the court of appeals. 

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

The court of appeals issued a published opinion on November 18, 

2013. Judge Mary Kay Becker wrote for the majority, Judge Anne 

Ellington concurred, and Judge Ann Schindler dissented. A copy of the 

opinion is attached in the Appendix (at App. 1-41) along with the panel 

majority's order withdrawing its previous opinion and denying City First's 

earlier motion for reconsideration (at App. 42-45). 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

First Issue Presented: In Barton v. Department of Transportation, 

178 Wn.2d 193, 216, 308 P.3d 597 (2013), this Court held that the trial 

court did not abuse its discretion by imposing "a significant sanction" 

(reducing the State's liability by $146,000) where "failure to disclose the 

[settlement document] was not willful or deliberate and the State's ability 

to prepare for trial was not substantially prejudiced." Although the 

conduct at issue here was far more egregious and the prejudice far more 

significant than in Barton, neither the panel majority in the court of 

appeals nor the trial court in this matter applied this Court's analysis in 

Barton and neither court granted a new trial or other sanctions. Judge 
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Schindler, in dissent, stated that she "would reverse and remand for a new 

trial" because "[t]he undisclosed agreement distorted the interests and 

alignment of the parties and created a sham of adversity that is contrary to 

Washington law, the right to a fair trial, the integrity of the adversary 

system, candor to the tribunal, and the administration of justice." App. 32, 

41. On this issue, the question presented is: 

Whether, applying this Court's analysis in Barton, City First is 
entitled to a new trial or significant sanctions based on the 
settling parties' failure to timely disclose their secret settlement 
agreement and related misconduct. 

Second Issue Presented: The facts of this case, this Court's 

opinion in Barton, and other appellate court decisions show that failure to 

timely disclose a settlement agreement between some but less than all 

parties in a lawsuit is a serious and recurring issue. Recognizing the 

significance of that issue, Judge Schindler concluded: "Consistent with ... 

chapter 4.22 RCW, the Supreme Court should adopt a rule requiring the 

timely disclosure of an agreement between a plaintiff and a codefendant to 

enter into a covenant not to sue and release." App. 32 (emphasis added). 

On this issue, the question presented is: 

Whether a settlement agreement between some but less than 
all parties must be timely disclosed by those parties (plaintiffs 
and defendants alike) so that the trial court can advise the jury 
of the agreement and jurors can consider that relationship in 
evaluating evidence and the credibility of witnesses. 
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IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Plaintiffs' Trial Counsel Used A Secret Settlement Agreement 
To Improperly Incentivize Andrew Mullen - A Co-Defendant 
With City First And Material Witness - To Provide Helpful 
Testimony. 

Plaintiffs Donald and Beth Collings sued Andrew and Malinda 

Mullen, City First, and Robert Loveless for conspiracy, vicarious liability, 

and violation of Washington's Credit Services Organization Act and 

Equity Skimming Act arising out of an alleged foreclosure rescue scheme. 

See CP 1-15. Shortly before trial, Plaintiffs scheduled the deposition of 

Mr. Mullen. CP 1169-70. In the days leading up to the deposition, 

unbeknownst to City First, Plaintiffs' trial counsel Jeff Smyth drafted a 

settlement agreement - a "covenant not to execute" - that would resolve 

Plaintiffs' claims against Mr. Mullen but preserve their claims against City 

First. CP 1051,1062,1165-67. 1 

Critical here, Plaintiffs' trial counsel used the proposed settlement 

agreement to incentivize Mr. Mullen to provide helpful testimony at his 

deposition. In a post-trial declaration, Mr. Mullen testified: 

1 In relevant part, the covenant not to execute states: "In consideration of the 
promise to pay $500.00 to plaintiffs, plaintiffs do covenant, and agree with defendants 
Mullen, that plaintiffs (or any successor or assignee) will not execute or otherwise seek to 
enforce or collect on any judgment entered in the pending lawsuit against defendants 
Mullen. . . . Should judgment be entered against any defendant who is a party to this 
agreement, plaintiff will provide that defendant with a Satisfaction of Judgment promptly 
upon final disposition of all claims in this matter." CP 1165-67. 

3 



In the days leading up to the deposition, Plaintiffs' counsel and my 
counsel negotiated a covenant not to execute any judgment against 
my wife and me in anticipation of that deposition. I received the 
final version of that document from Plaintiffs' counsel on July 
26, 2010- the morning of my deposition- and was informed that 
Plaintiffs would only execute the covenant if my deposition 
testimony was acceptable. The covenant was fully executed after 
my deposition. 

CP 1772-74 (emphasis added). As this testimony confirms, Mr. Mullen 

was told that he could avoid potential financial ruin if and only if his 

deposition testimony "was acceptable" to Plaintiffs. CP 1773. None of 

this was disclosed to City First. CP 1081, 1104. 

Consistent with the above incentive, Mr. Mullen provided 

testimony at his deposition that was unfavorable to City First, including: 

• that City First supervised Mr. Mullen's work (Ex. 70 (Transcript of 
Mullen Deposition) at 11 :4-14 ); 

• that all of Home Front Services' loans were placed with City First 
(id. at 31 :4-12); 

• that City First profited from Home Front Services' loans (id. at 
32:10-24); 

• that there was a documentation error in the initial loan relating to 
Plaintiffs' residence (id. at 46: 12-20); and 

• that City First should have identified the above error (id. at 46:21-
47:3). 

Both Plaintiffs and their trial attorney executed the settlement agreement 

immediately after Mr. Mullen's deposition. CP 1167, 1173 ~ 2. 

Also consistent with the above incentive, Mr. Mullen did not 

mention critical facts favorable to City First, including: 
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• that Home Front Services operated as an independent branch of 
City First, and City First was not involved in preparing loan 
documents originating out of Mr. Mullen's Home Front Services 
office (RP 53:1-8, 102:19-22, 133:24-134:6, 136:22-137:2, 154:10-
155:7, 184:20-22 (Sept. 15, 2010)); 

• that there was no common ownership, management, employment, 
or agency agreement between City First and Home Front Holdings, 
LLC or Integrity Management Group (RP 157:8-12 
(Sept. 15, 2010)); 

• that there was no yield spread premium on the loans relating to 
Plaintiffs' residence, the fees for those loans were "average" fees, 
and City First lost money on the loans (RP 87:10-88:2, 94:17-95:1 
(Sept. 14, 2010); RP 85:23-86:1, 147:11-13 (Sept. 15, 2010)); 

• that City First did not underwrite any loan relating to Plaintiffs' 
residence, did not service any such loan, and was not the actual 
lender for any such loan (RP 101:9-102:22, 139:22-140:21, 168:9-
21, 171:10-18 (Sept. 15, 2010)); and 

• that paperwork for the loans relating to Plaintiffs' residence was 
prepared in the Home Front Services office and sent directly to the 
lender - not City First (RP 79:1-80:12, 98:24-103:11, 102:19-
103:11, 133:13-134:6, 136:22-137:2, 181:5-9 (Sept. 15, 2010)). 

Because Plaintiffs had not yet disclosed the covenant not to execute, City 

First did not ask Mr. Mullen about the above issues or otherwise cross-

examine him at his deposition. Instead, it continued to believe that Mr. 

Mullen (as a co-defendant and witness subject to a Notice to Attend Trial 

(CP 281-82)) would appear and be subject to cross-examination at trial. 

B. Plaintiffs' Trial Counsel Took Advantage Of Andrew Mullen's 
Absence At Trial And Proposed Jury Instructions That Were 
Admittedly Wrong And Affirmatively Misleading. 

When Mr. Mullen did not appear for trial, Plaintiffs read his 

deposition transcript to the jury and offered it into evidence. RP 15:12-21, 
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16:24-17:2, 18:5 (Sept. 16, 2010); Ex. 70. City First had no reason to 

object to the testimony, nor did the trial court have any basis to strike the 

testimony, because Plaintiffs had not yet disclosed the covenant not to 

execute and City First was not yet aware of the corresponding incentive to 

provide testimony that was "acceptable" to Plaintiffs. CP 1081, 1104. 

Plaintiffs' trial counsel also did not inform the trial court that its 

jury instructions - most of which Plaintiffs proposed - did not accurately 

reflect the fact that the Mullens were no longer potentially liable. See 

CP 566-635, 825-34, 837-90. Jury instruction 14, for example, stated: 

If you find that Andrew Mullen was an employee or authorized 
agent of City First Mortgage Services, LLC, then any act or 
omission by him within the scope of his employment was the act or 
omission of City First Mortgage Services, LLC. 

CP 856. In total, nine instructions directed the jury to decide whether City 

First could be liable for Mr. Mullen's acts even though the Mullens were 

no longer even potentially liable. See CP 837-90. 

Then, in closing arguments, Mr. Smyth asked the jury, "Where are 

[the Mullens]?" and "Why aren't they here [to defend themselves]?" CP 

1775 ~ 3. Of course he knew precisely why the Mullens had not appeared 

at trial: Mr. Mullen had provided "acceptable" testimony and had been 

secretly absolved of liability before trial began. But City First and the trial 
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court were still in the dark. CP 1081, 1104. As such, neither had any 

reason to object to or strike the improper argument.2 

After hearing Mr. Mullen's deposition testimony, the trial court's 

instructions, and closing arguments, the jury found City First liable for the 

acts of Mr. Mullen and his business partner, Mr. Loveless, in the amount 

of $40,311. CP 898-99 (Questions 3-4 ). The jury also awarded punitive 

damages against City First and Mr. Loveless in the amount of $80,622 and 

against Mr. Mullen in the amount of $8,000. CP 900 (Question 1 0). Even 

then, Plaintiffs' trial counsel said nothing about the secret covenant not to 

execute. CP 1081, 1104. 

It was not until Plaintiffs requested attorney fees that City First 

learned of the covenant. In support of their fee petition, Plaintiffs 

submitted a 33-page ledger that contained three references to a 

"settlement" and "covenant not to execute." CP 1051, 1062. City First 

immediately demanded a copy. See id. Plaintiffs' trial counsel initially 

refused to acknowledge the covenant. CP 1068-69, 1081, 1106, 1139-49, 

2 The panel majority in the court of appeals noted that "[t]he parties agreed that 
closing argument would not be transcribed" and faulted City First for its purported 
"failure to preserve the pertinent record." App. II. When City First agreed that closing 
argument would not be transcribed, it did not yet know about the covenant not to execute 
and therefore had no reason to "'preserve the pertinent record" on this particular issue. In 
addition, despite numerous opportunities to do so, Plaintiffs' trial counsel has never 
denied or disputed the sworn testimony offered by City First that he drew the jury's 
attention to the Mullens' absence in closing argument by asking the jury, "Where are 
they?" and "Why aren't they here?" CP 1775 ~ 3. 
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1250, 1256-58. Then, after the trial court entered judgment against City 

First (CP 1135-38), Plaintiffs produced a copy as part of a motion asking 

the trial court to "approv[ e] as fair their settlement with Andrew and 

Malinda Mullen" (CP 1155-59). 

C. The Trial Court Denied City First's Motion For A New Trial 
And Its Request For Sanctions Based On The Secret 
Settlement Agreement And Related Misconduct, And A 
Divided Panel Of The Court Of Appeals Affirmed. 

Having finally discovered the secret settlement agreement and 

related misconduct, City First requested a new trial and significant 

sanctions. CP 1074, 1418-53, 1466-91, 1636, 1937-38. The trial court 

found that "Plaintiffs' settlement with Mullins [sic] was first disclosed 

after trial," but ruled that "[n ]o reason appears to discharge City First from 

liability .... " CP 1859-63. The trial court then granted Plaintiffs' request 

for prevailing party attorney fees and awarded fees totaling $628,564.20 -

more than 15 times the compensatory damages award - including a 1.2 

multiplier (a 20% enhancement). CP 2174; RP 9:11-13:5 (May 4, 2011). 

City First appealed, and the court of appeals affirmed in a divided 

opinion on July 29, 2013. City First then filed a motion for 

reconsideration emphasizing this Court's forthcoming opinion in Barton. 

A few days later, after this Court decided Barton, City First filed a notice 

of additional authority and a motion for leave to submit supplemental 

8 



briefing regarding Barton. On November 18, 2013, the panel majority 

issued another published opinion, withdrew its previous opinion, and 

denied City First's motion for leave to submit supplemental briefing 

regarding Barton. App. 43-44. Despite the critical significance of Barton 

(discussed at length below), the panel majority did not discuss or even cite 

Barton. This timely petition for review followed. 

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

A. The Panel Majority's Ruling Regarding Sanctions (Denying A 
New Trial And Awarding Prevailing Party Attorney Fees) 
Squarely Conflicts With Barton (RAP 13.4(b)(l)). 

Like Plaintiffs here, the plaintiff in Barton sued multiple 

defendants for their alleged injuries. 178 Wn.2d at 197. Before trial, the 

plaintiff settled with some but not all defendants and did not disclose the 

settlement agreement to the trial court or the State (the non-settling 

defendant). !d. As a result, like City First here, the State did not learn of 

the settlement agreement until after an adverse judgment had been entered. 

!d. at 197-99. In response, the trial court in Barton imposed "a significant 

sanction"- reducing the State's liability by $146,000. !d. at 216. 

This Court affirmed. Starting with the duty to disclose, the Court 

squarely held that the plaintiff's failure to disclose the settlement 

document "violated RCW 4.22.060(1 )," which "requires that a party, 

'prior to entering into a release, covenant not to sue, covenant not to 
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enforce judgment, or similar agreement,' shall gtve notice of the 

settlement to the court and other parties," and also violated CR 26(e)(2), 

which "requires parties to 'seasonably' amend or supplement discovery 

requests." !d. at 215-16 (quoting RCW 4.22.060(1) and CR 26(e)(2)). 

The Court then held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by 

imposing "a significant sanction" even though "failure to disclose the 

Stipulation was not willful or deliberate and the State's ability to prepare 

for trial was not substantially prejudiced." !d. at 216. 

Unfortunately, the trial court in this case did not apply this Court's 

analysis in Barton to the facts at issue here because it did not have the 

benefit of the Court's ruling. Nor did the trial court impose any sanction, 

significant or otherwise. To the contrary, the trial court summarily held 

that "[n]o reason appears to discharge City First from liability" (CP 1859-

63) and awarded attorney fees in favor of Plaintiffs totaling $628,564.20, 

including a 1.2 multiplier (CP 2174; RP 9:11-13:5 (May 4, 2011)). 

The panel majority in the court of appeals also did not apply this 

Court's analysis in Barton. Although City First's counsel notified the 

court of appeals regarding the issues and proceedings in Barton, the panel 

majority decided the appeal without awaiting this Court's opinion. City 

First subsequently moved for reconsideration, and it filed a statement of 
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additional authority regarding Barton the same day it was decided, 

followed closely by a motion for leave to submit supplemental briefing 

regarding Barton. Despite the critical significance of Barton (as discussed 

above), the panel majority denied City First's motion to submit 

supplemental briefing and did not discuss or even cite Barton in its 

ensuing opinion. It therefore did not apply the Court's analysis. 

Also significant here, the panel majority's analysis is directly 

contrary to Barton. On the threshold disclosure issue, the panel majority 

never acknowledged that Plaintiffs were required by RCW 4.22.060(1) to 

disclose the covenant not to execute to the trial court and City First before 

trial. Nor did it acknowledge that there was a continuing discovery 

request requiring disclosure. CP 1487, 1630. The panel majority likewise 

failed to consider whether counsel's failure to disclose the settlement 

agreement was willful or deliberate. And while the panel majority 

addressed prejudice, it held that a "concrete showing of actual prejudice is 

necessary" (App. 12), which is not the test that this Court announced in 

Barton. Lastly, the panel majority did not compare these considerations to 

the trial court's sanctions because the trial court did not award any. 

Had the trial court or the panel majority properly applied this 

Court's analysis in Barton, neither could have ruled the way it did. 

11 



Starting with willfulness, the conduct at issue was both willful and 

deliberate. First, Mr. Mullen was told that Plaintiffs would execute the 

covenant not to execute only if his deposition testimony "was acceptable" 

to Plaintiffs. CP 1773. Second, when Mr. Mullen did not appear at trial

as anticipated by Plaintiffs but not by City First - Plaintiffs read the 

transcript of his deposition to the jury and offered it into evidence. 

RP 15:12-21, 16:24-17:2, 18:5 (Sept. 16, 2010); Ex. 70. Third, Plaintiffs 

proposed numerous instructions (including the instruction quoted on page 

6 above) that directed the jury to decide whether City First could be liable 

for Mr. Mullen's acts even though the Mullens were not potentially liable. 

See CP 837-90. Fourth, Mr. Smyth then asked the jury, "Where are [the 

Mullens]?" and "Why aren't they here [to defend themselves]?" CP 1775 

~ 3. For these tactics to work, it was essential that City First and the trial 

court not know about the covenant not to execute. On this record, 

counsel's misconduct was clearly both willful and deliberate. 

Indeed, Plaintiffs' trial counsel not only violated RCW 4.22.060(1) 

and CR 26(e)(2), as Barton confirms, he also violated the duty of candor. 

The court of appeals recognized the importance of timely disclosure in 

McCluskey v. Handorff-Sherman, 68 Wn. App. 96, 841 P.2d 1300 (1992), 

aff'd on other grounds, 125 Wn.2d 1 (1994), as follows: 

12 



Where appellate courts have permitted such agreements [referring 
to Mary Carter Agreements], they also have required pretrial 
disclosure to the trial court. The trial court can then advise the jury 
of the agreement so that jurors can consider the relationship in 
evaluating evidence and the credibility of witnesses. 

68 Wn. App. at 104 (citing cases). This Court has likewise recognized 

that "[i]t was [counsel's] duty, as an officer of the court, to fully divulge 

what had transpired that morning at the office of the title company, in 

order that the judge might have all of the facts before him." In re Healy, 

43 Wn.2d 266, 270, 261 P.2d 89 (1953). In light of these established legal 

principles, the continuing failure to disclose the covenant not to execute 

was egregious as well as willful and deliberate. 

Turning to prejudice, the panel majority's analysis further conflicts 

with decisions of this Court. The panel majority held that City First was 

required to make "a concrete showing of actual prejudice." App. 12. 

Judge Schindler dissented on that point as well, noting "it is difficult, if 

not impossible, to determine whether Mullen's testimony would have been 

different absent the secret agreement." App. 39. Although this Court did 

not expressly address the applicable burden of proof in Barton, it has 

recognized that as between a party '"who has clearly caused some harm"' 

and an '"entirely innocent"' party, '"any hardship due to lack of evidence 

as to the extent of the harm caused should fall upon the former."' Cox v. 

Spangler, 141 Wn.2d 431,444, 5 P.3d 1265 (2000) (quoting Restatement 
13 



(Second) of Torts § 433B cmt. d on (2), at 444 (1965)). The panel 

majority's "concrete showing of actual prejudice" standard is contrary to 

that established legal principle. 

Moreover, even ifthe panel majority's "concrete showing of actual 

prejudice" standard were consistent with Washington law generally 

(which it is not), it would not apply here because Plaintiffs proposed, and 

the trial court adopted, numerous instructions that led the jury to 

erroneously believe that the Mullens were still parties to the case and that 

City First could be held liable for their actions. CP 850-53, 855-56. 

Given this clear misstatement of the law, prejudice "is presumed." 

Anfinson v. FedEx Ground Package Sys., Inc., 174 Wn.2d 851, 860, 281 

P.3d 289 (2012); see also Furfaro v. City of Seattle, 144 Wn.2d 363, 384, 

27 P.3d 1160 (reversing judgment because jury instruction was erroneous

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