RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Jan 16, 2014, 4:34 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

No. 89313-0

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Cause No. 66527-8-I

### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION ONE OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DONALD COLLINGS and BETH COLLINGS, husband and wife, Respondents,

v.

CITY FIRST MORTGAGE SERVICES, LLC,

Petitioner,

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION AS TRUSTEE FOR THE GREENPOINT MORTGAGE FUNDING TRUST MORTGAGE PASS-THROUGH CERTIFICATES, SERIES 2007-ARI,

Plaintiff in Intervention/Petitioner.

### ANSWER TO PETITIONS FOR REVIEW

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Howard M. Goodfriend WSBA No. 14355 Catherine W. Smith WSBA No. 9542

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

### d. No Misleading Jury Instructions.

Rather than demonstrating prejudice, the special verdict shows how Mullen's deposition testimony had no effect on City First's liability. The jury found City First liable for the acts of its agent Loveless, not Mullen, under uncontested pattern instructions defining agency and the vicarious liability for acts occurring in the course of employment. The jury attributed no compensatory

damages to Mullen, though it fined him \$8,000 in punitive damages for his role in facilitating the equity skim. (CP 850-56, 898-900)

The jury instructions, to which no party excepted, did not mislead the jury about the true posture of the parties by instructing the jury that City First could "only act through its officers, managers, and employees." (City First Pet. 6, 14, quoting CP 856) This statement of black letter law is indisputably accurate, as Mullen had not been released by operation of law by virtue of a covenant not to execute. See Barton, 178 Wn.2d at 207, ¶ 24 (covenant not to execute did not release defendant by operation of law). Even if Mullen had been released, City First was not. As the jury and the court found, City First was liable for its own actions as well as those of its agent and manager Loveless. (CP 1861)

3. This Case Does Not Involve A "Mary Carter" Agreement, And A Covenant Not To Execute Is Inadmissible In the Absence of Collusion or Bias.

Like the agreement in *Barton*, the Mullen covenant was not a "Mary Carter" agreement because it did not realign Mullen with the Collings, and it did not make "what one party receives contingent on a certain outcome produced at trial." Phillips, *Looking out for* 

Mary Carter: Collusive Settlement Agreements In Washington Tort Litigation, 69 Wash. L. Rev. 255, 256 (1994) ("Mary Carter" agreement is one in which "the settling defendant retains a financial stake in the plaintiff's recovery...") (City First Pet. 19)3

The evil of Mary Carter agreements is that the finder of fact does not know that a testifying defendant's true interests lie in supporting the plaintiff's recovery. That evil is conspicuously absent here, where the covenant not to execute was not contingent on any particular testimony and the consideration was not dependent upon the Collings' recovery against any other defendant. Instead, like the stipulation in *Barton*, the Collings' agreement with Mullen "did not realign the interests of the parties or attempt to artificially manufacture joint and several liability between an individual and a deep-pocket institutional defendant." 178 Wn.2d at 213, ¶ 37. See McCluskey v. Handorff-Sherman, 68 Wn. App. 96, 841 P.2d 1300 (1992) (affirming denial of non-settling defendant's motion for a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See Booth v. Mary Carter Paint Co., 202 So.2d 8, 10 (Fla. App. 1967) (plaintiff agreed to limit settling defendant's exposure up to a maximum of \$12,500 and refrain from collecting any-thing from the settling defendant if plaintiff's recovery exceeded \$37,500 from the solvent co-defendant); Romero v. West Valley School Dist., 123 Wn. App. 385, 389-90, 98 P.3d 96 (2004) (characterizing agreement giving settling defendant the right to recover half of everything collected by plaintiff in excess of the settling defendant's insurance limits, up to the amount of the settling defendant's personal financial contribution, as "a classic 'Mary Carter' agreement."), rev. denied, 154 Wn.2d 1010 (2005).

new trial in absence of evidence of any collusion between the driver and the plaintiff), *aff'd*, 125 Wn. 2d 1, 882 P.2d 157 (1994).

City First's claim that it could have used the covenant to impeach Mullen's deposition testimony is without merit. Indeed, a trial court would abuse its discretion in admitting such evidence where the agreement does not create an incentive for the witness to change his testimony. Diaz v. State, 175 Wn.2d 457, 470-71, ¶¶ 32-33, 285 P.3d 873 (2012) (evidence of agreement between plaintiff and one of several defendants inadmissible under ER 408; affirming denial of new trial); Northington v. Sivo, 102 Wn. App. 545, 550, 8 P.3d 1067 (2000) ("In the absence of clear conflict in a witness's testimony or a circumstance in which the settlement's content provides a motive for the witness to offer biased testimony, ER 408 does not permit the jury to consider settlement evidence.")

The Court of Appeals properly recognized that City First could suffer no prejudice based on an agreement that provides no incentive for collusion and that left the parties in precisely the same alignment as existed before its execution. City First's contention that a covenant not to execute would be automatically admissible to establish bias is a quantum leap not supported by Washington law, and it presents no basis for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) or (4).

4. This Case Does Not Present Any Issue Regarding The Duty Of Disclosure Under RCW 4.22.060 Because City First's Liability Was Not Based On Fault Under The Tort Reform Act.

Although the Court of Appeals' affirmance on the ground that City First suffered no prejudice is dispositive, City First erroneously relies on *Barton* to argue that Collings' counsel "violated RCW 4.22.060(1) and CR 26(e)(2)" (City First Pet. 12) by failing to disclose the covenant with Mullen. Here, unlike in *Barton*, defense counsel never sought discovery of any agreements between the parties, and did not ask its former employee any questions in his deposition. *See* 178 Wn.2d at 216, ¶ 45. In the absence of a discovery request, there was no duty to supplement under CR 26(e).

City First quotes Judge Schindler's dissent to assert that RCW ch. 4.22 mandates disclosure of all agreements with codefendants. But RCW 4.22.060 is inapplicable here. The Collings' statutory claims were grounded in the intentional conduct of City First and its manager Loveless.

The *Barton* Court rejected the State's contention that a covenant not to execute eliminated the teenage driver's joint and several liability under RCW 4.22.070 and the State's right to

contribution under RCW 4.22.060 because it was not a full settlement and did not result in dismissal of the party benefitting from the covenant. 178 Wn.2d at 213, ¶ 38. Here, because the Collings did not allege liability on the basis of "fault" as defined in RCW 4.22.015, there was no joint and several liability under RCW 4.22.070, no claims for contribution, no claims for comparative fault, and therefore no basis for a reasonableness determination under RCW 4.22.060. See Tegman v. Accident & Med. Investigations, Inc., 150 Wn.2d 102, 115, 75 P.3d 497 (2003) (jury cannot assign "fault" under RCW 4.22.070 to defendants who are liable for intentional torts). RCW 4.22.060 did not mandate disclosure of the Mullen covenant and RCW 4.22.070 did not preclude entry of judgment against Mullen.

City First's contention that a lawyer's ethical duty of "candor" requires disclosure of any and all agreements between parties lacks any support as well. Attorneys are under no ethical obligation to disclose evidence to an opposing party in the absence of a discovery request. See Sherman v. State, 128 Wn.2d 164, 184-85, 905 P.2d 355 (1995) (no ethical duty under RPC 3.4 to disclose information to opposing party); Zurich North America v. Matrix Service, Inc., 426 F.3d 1281 (10th Cir. 2005) (failure to disclose material

information in absence of discovery request is not a fraud on the court or misconduct justifying relief from judgment). If City First wanted to know about agreements that it now claims were relevant, all it had to do was ask. But it asked no questions of Mullen in discovery or at his deposition, and did not ask the Collings about payments or agreements with other parties.

Finally, and in contrast to the State in *Barton*, City First never asked for monetary sanctions against Collings or their counsel, but sought only a new trial on the ground of misconduct under CR 59(a)(2). The Court of Appeals' affirmance of the denial of its motion for a new trial presents no ground for review.

# B. U.S. Bank May Not Enforce The Fraudulent Deed of Trust Because It Was Not A Bona Fide Purchaser And Because U.S. Bank Did Not Raise, And Is Not Entitled To, Equitable Subrogation.

U.S. Bank's petition similarly fails to raise any issue addressed by the Court of Appeals that merits review by this Court. U.S. Bank failed to raise its arguments concerning the "evidentiary burden" and its asserted right to equitable subrogation in the Court of Appeals. Moreover, the courts below followed settled law based on the trial court's findings that U.S. Bank failed to establish a legal or an equitable right to enforce its deed of trust against the Collings.

### 1. The Court of Appeals' Decision Does Not Conflict With This Court's Opinion In Albice.

U.S. Bank claims that the Court of Appeals "revers[ed] the evidentiary burden" (U.S. Bank Pet. 13) by affirming the trial court's finding that the Bank was not a bona fide purchaser based on substantial evidence that it had notice of restrictions on further encumbrances. (Opinion ¶¶ 61-70) The Court should deny review because this issue was raised for the first time in U.S. Bank's petition for review and because the Court of Appeals' decision in any event is wholly consistent with this Court's decision in *Albice v. Premier Mortg. Servs. Of Wash., Inc.*, 174 Wn.2d 560, 276 P.3d 1277 (2012).

This Court's acceptance of review under RAP 13.4 is governed by criteria directed to the appellate court's opinion and to the issues that the intermediate appellate court's opinion raises. "This court does not generally consider issues raised for the first time in a petition for review." *Fisher v. Allstate*, 136 Wn.2d 240, 252, 961 P.2d 350 (1998). The question whether the Collings met their burden of disproving the Bank's BFP status is not in this case because U.S. Bank did not argue on appeal that the burden of proof

was somehow "reversed" or otherwise improperly addressed by the courts below.

In any event, the Court of Appeals' decision is wholly consistent with *Albice*, in which this Court affirmed the Court of Appeals' decision that a purchaser of real property could not be a bona fide purchaser because of procedural noncompliance with the statutes governing nonjudicial foreclosure. Neither *Albice*, cited by the Court of Appeals for the general rules governing BFP status (Op. ¶ 56), nor any other case cited by U.S. Bank, supports its argument that the courts below improperly placed the burden on U.S. Bank to prove BFP status. All *Albice* does is confirm is that a purchaser cannot be a BFP if the process through which it obtained title is flawed. *Albice*, 174 Wn.2d at 573, ¶¶ 23-26.

Here, as the trial court held, U.S. Bank was not even a holder, much less a holder in due course, because it sought to enforce a note endorsed pursuant to a flawed and improperly documented mortgage securitization process, for which it did not give value. (See Collings Resp. to U.S. Bank Br. 39-44) Further, as the trial court found, U.S. Bank obtained its interest in the note and deed of trust by assignment from MERS after the Collings had recorded a lis pendens asserting their interest in their property and

providing notice of Loveless' fraud. (FF 11, 12, 19, CP 1854-56) The Court of Appeals' opinion is wholly consistent with this Court's opinion in *Albice*, and this Court should not grant review to address U.S. Bank's "burden of proof" issue raised for the first time in its petition.

## 2. The Court Of Appeals' Decision Does Not Conflict With This Court's Decision In Columbia Community Bank.

U.S. Bank raises another new issue in arguing that the Court of Appeals' opinion is inconsistent with this Court's decision in Columbia Community Bank v. Newman Park, LLC., 177 Wn.2d 566 304 P.3d 472 (2013), decided after the appellate court's decision in this case and addressing the doctrine of equitable subrogation. The Court should deny review of this issue because U.S. Bank did not raise equitable subrogation in the Court of Appeals and because the Court of Appeals' decision in any event is wholly consistent with this Court's decision in Columbia City.

The Court of Appeals' opinion is not in conflict with the decision in *Columbia Community Bank*, which adopted the test for equitable subrogation under *Restatement Third of Property: Mortgages* § 7.6, because, having never been asked to address this issue, the Court of Appeals never considered U.S. Bank's asserted

right to equitable subrogation. See Fisher, 136 Wn.2d at 252. Contrary to its cryptic claim that it "preserved" this error by unexplained assignments of error to two findings and a conclusion quieting title in the Collings (U.S. Bank Pet. 18), the Court of Appeals did not address the doctrine of equitable subrogation because U.S. Bank never raised this issue in the Court of Appeals.

The decision below is, in any event, wholly consistent with the principles announced in *Columbia Community Bank*, which held that a refinance lender was not barred from seeking equitable subrogation because it acted as a "volunteer" in refinancing existing debt. 177 Wn.2d at 580-81, ¶ 29. As this Court sets out there, "if a third party pays a debtor's outstanding loan to the lender . . . then, under certain circumstances, equity permits the third party to take over the lender's interest and receive the continuing payments of the debtor. . ." *Columbia Community Bank*, 177 Wn.2d at 574, ¶ 16. But the *Columbia Community Bank* Court did not relax the requirements that equitable subrogation be invoked only to do equity. U.S. Bank as the putative "third party" presented no evidence that in fact it had paid the loan, much less that it would lose anything if it were not subrogated to the original lender's interest. *Columbia Community Bank*, 177 Wn.2d at 582, ¶ 32-33.

In fact, the trial court found that U.S. Bank had not paid "any value" when obtaining by assignment the Loveless deed of trust, and that it had a remedy against its transferee Greenpoint Mortgage Funding, Inc. (FF 16-17, CP 1855) U.S. Bank's argument that mere lack of diligence is not a bar to equitable subrogation ignores the trial court's extensive findings that it was not entitled to an equitable remedy to prevent unjust enrichment. (CL 27-28; CP 1857) That decision is wholly consistent with this Court's precedent. See, e.g., Kim v. Lee, 145 Wn.2d 79, 91, 31 P.3d 665, 43 P.3d 1222 (2001) ("allowing equitable subrogation in this case would ignore the interests of equity and justice established by Washington jurisprudence.").

U.S. Bank had no right to equitable subrogation against Collings. Having so thoroughly addressed equitable subrogation in a case in which the issue was properly briefed, just a few months ago, this Court should not grant review to address an equitable subrogation argument that U.S. Bank did not raise in the Court of Appeals, and that the Court of Appeals consequently did not address.

## 3. The Court Of Appeals' Decision Does Not Conflict With Division Three's Decision In Bank Of New York.

The Court of Appeals' decision awarding fees to the Collings against U.S. Bank is wholly consistent with Bank of New York v. Hooper, 164 Wn. App. 295, 263 P.3d 1263 (2011), rev. denied, 173 Wn.2d 1021 (2012), which held "RCW 4.84.330 is a mutuality provision. Because the [appellant] bank would not have been entitled to attorney fees against [respondents], RCW 4.84.330 does not provide a basis for those parties to recover attorney fees against the bank." Bank of New York, 164 Wn. App. at 305, ¶ 22. As its designated representative testified, U.S. Bank intervened in this action for the express purpose of foreclosing a deed of trust against the Collings home. (9/16 RP 87) That deed of trust contained a fee provision. (Ex. 12, ¶ 26) Had U.S. Bank prevailed, it would have sought a fee award under the deed of trust's fee provision against Because the Collings prevailed, RCW 4.84.330 the Collings. therefore authorizes a fee award against the Bank. The Court of Appeals' decision awarding fees does not conflict with Division Three's decision in Bank of New York.

## C. The Collings Are Entitled To Attorney Fees In Responding To The Petitions For Review.

The Court of Appeals awarded attorney fees to the Collings against City First under the CPA, RCW 19.86.090, and against U.S. Bank under the deed of trust it sought to enforce. (Ex. 12) Pursuant to RAP 18.1(j), this Court should award the Collings their fees in answering these petitions.

### V. CONCLUSION

This Court should deny review and award respondents their fees in answering the petitions.